IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1997 L.T. CONSOLIDATED CASE NOS. 1D09-1055 and 1D09-1144

WEST FLORIDA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC. d/b/a WEST FLORIDA HOSPITAL,

Petitioner/Defendant,

vs.

LYNDA S. SEE and RODNEY C. SEE,

Respondents/Plaintiffs. /

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner/Defendant, West Florida Regional Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a West Florida Hospital (the "Hospital"), appeals from two non-final Orders compelling it to disclose privileged and confidential documents pursuant to Article X, section 25, of the Florida Constitution (commonly known as "Amendment 7"). Amendment 7 provides that a patient may access records relating to any adverse medical incident of a health care facility. <u>See</u> Art. X, § 25, Fla. Const.

The Hospital filed separate petitions for writ of certiorari with the First District, challenging each Order and the appellate matters were consolidated. The First District granted in part and denied in part the Hospital's petitions and this Court granted review.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Plaintiffs, Lynda and Rodney See, allege that Mrs. See's physicians improperly performed surgeries that resulted in the severing of her bile duct and damage to her liver. (App. 30).¹ Plaintiffs sued West Florida Regional Medical Center, asserting claims of vicarious liability for her physicians' negligence and

¹ Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.220, documents referenced in this brief are included in Petitioner's Appendix To Petitioner's Initial Brief on the Merits and will be referenced as (App. Tab No.:Page No. or Paragraph No. or Exhibit No.).

direct liability for the Hospital's grant of clinical privileges to the physicians who performed her surgeries. (App. 30).

During discovery, Plaintiffs requested, pursuant to Amendment 7, that the Hospital produce all adverse incident reports as to Mrs. See and the two physicians, pertaining to the two surgical procedures. (App. 29:¶22). Plaintiffs also sought the entire credentialing file of the two physicians. (App. 23; 29:¶17). Thereafter, Plaintiffs served a subpoena duces tecum directed at the Chief Executive Officer of the Hospital, seeking production of a blank application for medical staff privileges, among other requested documents. (App. 26).

The Hospital objected to these discovery requests and moved for protective orders. (App. 21; 22; 27; 28). The Hospital asserted, among other objections, that the requests sought documents related to the credentialing process that were confidential and statutorily protected and beyond the scope of "adverse medical incidents" discoverable under Amendment 7, citing sections 395.0191, 395.0193, 766.101, Florida Statutes, <u>Tenet Healthsystem Hospitals, Inc. v. Taitel</u>, 855 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), and <u>Morton Plant Hospital Association v. Shahbas</u>, 960 So. 2d 820 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). (App. 21:5, 23-24; 25:6-8; 27:2-3; 28:5-8; <u>see also</u> (App. 14:14-15).

The Hospital also submitted various materials in support of its motions for protective order. (App. 24). These materials included the Medical Staff Bylaws of the Hospital (the "Bylaws"). (App. 24:Exh. C).

The Bylaws were adopted by the Hospital's governing board and medical staff, pursuant to Florida law, to set forth the procedures and criteria for physicians to apply for appointment and reappointment to the medical staff. (App. 25:Exh. C. at Article 2.2.5, 13.1). Chapter 395, Florida Statutes, provides the authority, requirements and criteria for application, review, and appointment or reappointment to the medical staff and for clinical privileges at licensed facilities. The Hospital's governing board must "set standards and procedures to be applied by the licensed facility and its medical staff in considering and acting upon applications for staff membership or clinical privileges." § 395.0191(5), Fla. Stat.

The statute provides that approval of medical staff membership and privileges should be based on a provider's "background, experience, health, training, and demonstrated competency; the applicant's adherence to applicable professional ethics; the applicant's reputation; and the applicant's ability to work with others and by such other elements as determined by the governing board, consistent with this part." § 395.0191(4), Fla. Stat.

The Bylaws likewise define this "credentialing" process as the "series of activities designed to collect relevant data that will serve as a basis for decisions

3

regarding appointments and reappointments to the Medical Staff, as well as delineation of clinical privileges." (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 10.1.3). Under the Bylaws, the application for medical staff membership is used to determine eligibility for membership on the medical staff, as well as clinical privileges. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.1, 3.7.2-3.7.3). The application and supporting documentation are given to the Credentials Committee, which prepares a written report and recommendation. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.5.2). These documents are then reviewed by the Medical Executive Committee, which gives its recommendation to the Board of Trustees, which in turn makes the ultimate decision regarding privileges. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.5.3, 3.7.5.5.5).

The Bylaws generally identify certain types of information that the completed application shall include. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.3.1-3.7.3.22). The Bylaws also describe steps that should be taken to verify the information in the completed application, application processing, ongoing verification of credentials, performance profiling including measurement, monitoring, analysis and improvement of the quality and appropriateness of services provided by the individual Medical Staff members and other individuals with clinical privileges, as well as provisional status and proctoring. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.1).

These standards and procedures in the Bylaws are required to be available for public inspection. <u>See</u> § 395.0191(5), Fla. Stat. By contrast, the application to

4

the medical staff is part of the credentialing and recredentialing committee's process and is subject to the Hospital's records confidentiality policy. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 12.1-12.2). Access to even the blank application form is limited. A physician is not provided with a blank application for medical staff membership until after that physician demonstrates eligibility for membership. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.1). The Bylaws require that prior to providing an application to a prospective candidate, the Medical Staff Office must screen the prospective candidate, including requiring documentation of eligibility to apply for privileges. (App. 24:Exh. C at Article 3.7.1).

In support of its objections, the Hospital also submitted the affidavit of Sharon Smith, the Hospital's Risk Manager, attesting to the burdensome nature of the requests for production, and the fact that complying with such a request would interfere both with the operations of the hospital and the ability to perform her risk management functions that are required by state law. (App. 20:Exh. 1, ¶¶38-39).

The Hospital also argued that pursuant to section 381.028(7)(b)1, Florida Statutes, which was left intact by this Court's decision in <u>Florida Hospital</u> <u>Waterman, Inc. v. Buster</u>, 984 So. 2d 478, 493-94 (Fla. 2008), it should be allowed to identify "adverse medical incidents" using the process set forth in section 395.0197, Florida Statutes. (App. 21:4-5, 23; 28:2). Section 395.0197 provides

the framework for the risk management program that is required in all Florida hospitals. (App. 21:5, 23; <u>see also</u> App. 14:7, 16-19).

Finally, the Hospital argued that Amendment 7 is unconstitutional because it conflicts with and is impliedly preempted by the Health Care Quality Improvement Act of 1986 ("HCQIA"), 42 U.S.C. §§ 11101, et seq. (App. 21:3, 10-14; 28:3, 17-25; see also App. 14:9, 46-50, 52-63).²

In response, Plaintiffs filed memoranda, arguing the requested information was discoverable under Amendment 7. (App. 15; 17; 19). Plaintiffs contended that the blank application for medical staff privileges was discoverable under Amendment 7. (App. 19:16, 60-61). As to the Hospital's argument that pursuant to section 381.028, it should be allowed to identify "adverse medical incidents" using the process set forth in section 395.0197, Plaintiffs argued that section 381.028 does not apply to discovery requests made in civil lawsuits. (App. 19:53-57; <u>see also</u> App. 14:71-72). Lastly, Plaintiffs argued Amendment 7 was constitutional and not preempted. (App. 19:17-37; <u>see also</u> App. 14:65-67).

At the hearing, the parties made arguments consistent with those made in their motions and responses. (App. 14).

² While the Hospital raised various other objections to the requested discovery, those are not at issue in this appeal. (App. 14; 22; 23; 26; 28; 29).

On February 6, 2009, the trial court issued its Order granting, in part, and denying, in part, the Hospital's Amended Motion for Protective Order. (App. 13). The trial court rejected the Hospital's constitutional challenges to Amendment 7 and denied the motion as to "documents relating to adverse medical incidents," as defined in Amendment 7, of the two physicians for two years preceding the date of the first surgery performed on Mrs. See. (App. 13). The motion was otherwise granted. (App. 13:4). The Order is silent as to the Hospital's arguments regarding section 381.028(7)(b)1. (App. 13).

On February 9, 2009, the trial court issued its Order on the Hospital's Amended Motion to Quash and for Protective Order. (App. 12). In this Order, the trial court denied the motion for protective order as to the blank application for medical staff privileges and as to the two physicians' training specific to the surgical procedures performed on Mrs. See. (App. 12:2). The court otherwise granted the motion, including as to the two physicians' credentialing files to the extent they did not contain records of adverse medical incidents. (App. 12:3).

The Hospital filed separate petitions for writ of certiorari, challenging each Order and the appellate matters were consolidated. (App. 1; 7; 10). The Hospital argued that the trial court departed from the essential requirements of law by: (1) denying the Hospital's motion to quash with respect to a copy of the blank application for medical staff privileges; (2) denying the Hospital its statutory rights under section 381.028, Florida Statutes, including denial of costs prior to production and denial of the Hospital's right to use the method set forth in section 395.0197, Florida Statutes, to identify records of adverse medical incidents; and, (3) finding that Amendment 7 is not preempted and does not violate the United States Constitution. (App. 1; 7; 10).³ While the First District granted in part, and denied in part, the petitions, the First District rejected the Hospital's arguments on these issues. <u>See W. Fla. Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc. v. See</u>, 18 So. 3d 676 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009); (App. 1).

As to the blank application for medical staff privileges, the First District did not adopt Plaintiffs' argument that Amendment 7 permitted its discovery. <u>Id.</u> at 690-91. Instead, the First District disagreed with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Taitel</u>, 855 So. 2d at 1258, that the <u>Cruger v. Love</u>, 599 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1992), standard requires its protection, stating that "although the trial court did depart from the essential requirements of the law in failing to follow <u>Taitel</u>, which was the only district court decision on point at the time, the departure was harmless." <u>Id.</u>

With regard to section 381.028(7)(b)1, the First District stated that it declined to limit the scope of Amendment 7 by adopting the Hospital's interpretation of the statute and held that to the extent the statute requires less of

³ While the Hospital raised other issues in its petition for writ of certiorari, those are not at issue here. (App. 14; 21; 22; 25; 27; 28).

hospitals, it conflicts with Amendment 7. <u>See</u> 18 So. 3d at 683-84. The First District also rejected the Hospital's argument that Amendment 7 violates the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution because it is impliedly preempted by HCQIA. <u>Id.</u> at 684-87.

The Hospital's Motion for Clarification, Rehearing and/or Rehearing En Banc, and for Certification of Questions to the Florida Supreme Court was denied, though the court withdrew and substituted its original decision. <u>Id.</u>; (App. 1; 3; 4).⁴

The Hospital's jurisdictional brief to this Court argued conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Taitel</u>, 855 So. 2d 1257, as to the blank application for medical staff privileges. It further argued this Court has jurisdiction, because the First District expressly construed Amendment 7, a provision of the Florida Constitution, as well as the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution.

⁴ The original decision included a footnote that stated, "Parenthetically, we note that we do not interpret the trial court's order as denying Petitioner the right to require prepayment of costs. The trial court's order simply does not address this issue, and Petitioner never made an affirmative request for a ruling on it. Instead, Petitioner merely noted its entitlement to the statutory right to require the prepayment of costs." (App. 4:7-8, n.2). That footnote was not included in the court's substituted opinion. <u>See</u> 18 So. 3d 676.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in ordering production of a blank application for medical staff privileges, because the application is privileged and confidential pursuant to sections 395.0191(8) and 766.101(5), Florida Statutes. These statutes protect the privilege and confidentiality of credentialing committee records and investigations, including the blank application here. <u>See Tenet Healthsystem Hospitals, Inc. v. Taitel</u>, 855 So. 2d 1257 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). Moreover, these confidentiality provisions are still in effect to the extent that they do not prohibit the production of records relating to adverse medical incidents under Amendment 7. Because the blank application form for medical staff privileges is not related to any adverse medical incident, it is not subject to production under Amendment 7.

The trial court further erred in failing to order that production under Amendment 7 be performed pursuant to section 381.028(7)(b)(1), Florida Statutes, which this Court declined to find unconstitutional in <u>Florida Hospital Waterman</u>, <u>Inc. v. Buster</u>, 984 So. 2d 478, 493-94 (Fla. 2008). This subsection provides that a Hospital shall use the risk management program in section 395.0197 to identify records as records of adverse medical incidents.

Lastly, the trial court erroneously ordered production under Amendment 7, which is impliedly preempted by the Health Care Quality Improvement Act of

10

1986 ("HCQIA"), because Amendment 7 will eviscerate effective peer review and frustrate HCQIA's purpose in that regard.

Accordingly, the trial court's Orders should be quashed to the extent they require production of the blank application for medical staff privileges and to the extent that they require production of privileged and confidential records protected by sections 395.0191, 395.0193 and 766.101, on the basis that Amendment 7 is preempted. Should this Court determine that Amendment 7 is not preempted, then the trial court should be instructed to permit the Hospital to use the process set forth in section 381.028(7)(b)1 to identify records of adverse medical incidents, under Amendment 7. The First District's decision should be reversed to the extent it is inconsistent with the relief sought herein.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ORDERING PRODUCTION OF THE BLANK APPLICATION FOR MEDICAL STAFF PRIVILEGES

A. <u>Standard of Review: De Novo</u>

The trial court's interpretations of the statutory provisions providing for the confidentiality of a blank application for medical staff privileges and of Amendment 7 is reviewed de novo. <u>See Cruger v. Love</u>, 599 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1992) (reviewing de novo the construction of statutory provisions providing for the confidentiality of peer review and credentialing process); <u>Benjamin v. Tandem Healthcare, Inc.</u>, 998 So. 2d 566, 570 (Fla. 2008) (reviewing construction of Amendment 7 de novo).

B. <u>An Application For Medical Staff Privileges Is Statutorily</u> <u>Protected And Not Subject To Production</u>

The trial court erred in ordering production of the blank application for medical staff privileges, because the application is privileged and confidential pursuant to chapters 395 and 766, Florida Statutes. All documents and information pertaining to the work of credentialing and medical review committees were protected from discovery in civil cases prior to the enactment of Amendment 7. <u>See</u> §§ 395.0191(8), 395.0193(8), 395.0197, 766.101(5), Fla. Stat. Because Amendment 7 does not apply to the application, it remains privileged and confidential, not subject to production.

1. The application for medical staff privileges is not subject to production under Amendment 7

Amendment 7 did not altogether eliminate the privilege and confidentiality afforded under chapters 395 and 766, Florida Statutes. Rather, Amendment 7 provides that a patient may access "any records made or received in the course of business by a health care facility or provider relating to any adverse medical incident." Article X, § 25(a), Fla. Const. (emphasis added). Indeed, the First District, Second District and Third District have each held that the confidentiality provisions in chapters 395 and 766, Florida Statutes, are still in effect to the extent that they do not prohibit the production of records relating to adverse medical incidents under Amendment 7. See W. Fla. Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. See, 18 So. 3d 676, 688-89 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009); Baptist Hosp. of Miami, Inc. v. Garcia, 994 So. 2d 390, 393 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008); Morton Plant Hosp. Ass'n v. Shahbas, 960 So. 2d 820, 827 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). The blank application form for medical staff privileges is not related to any adverse medical incident. As such, it is not subject to production under Amendment 7.

Notably, here, the First District rejected Plaintiffs' argument that the blank application was subject to production under Amendment 7. Instead, the First District determined that a blank application for medical staff privileges was not statutorily protected. In this regard, the First District erred. 2. Consistent with <u>Taitel</u>, a blank application for medical staff privileges is confidential and not subject to production

Chapters 395 and 766, Florida Statutes, broadly protect the investigations,

proceedings and records of committees involved in credentialing. Section

395.0191(8), Florida Statutes, provides:

The investigations, proceedings, and records of the board [involved in determining staff membership or clinical privileges], or agent thereof . . . shall not be subject to discovery . . . against a provider of professional health services arising out of matters which are the subject of evaluation and review by such board. . .

Similarly, section 766.101(5), Florida Statutes, provides:

The investigations, proceedings, and records of a [medical review committee] shall not be subject to discovery . . . in any civil or administrative action against a provider of professional health services arising out of the matters which are the subject of evaluation and review by such committee.

These statutes protect the privilege and confidentiality of credentialing committee records and investigations. Indeed, this Court in <u>Cruger v. Love</u>, 599 So. 2d 111, 113 (Fla. 1992), held that the privileges provided by sections 395.0191 and 766.101, "protect[] any document considered by the [credentialing or peer review] committee or board as part of its decision-making process." <u>See also Brandon Reg'l Hosp. v. Murray</u>, 957 So. 2d 590, 592 (Fla. 2007) (affirming prohibition in sections 766.101 and 395.0191 of discovery in civil litigation of investigations, proceedings and records of Hospital committees involved in

credentialing). This Court explained the necessity of encouraging candor within the credentialing process, explaining, "it is essential that doctors seeking hospital privileges disclose all pertinent information to the committee." <u>Cruger</u>, 599 So. 2d at 113.

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