IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1997

WEST FLORIDA REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC. d/b/a WEST FLORIDA HOSPITAL,

Petitioner,

-VS-

LYNDA S. SEE and RODNEY C. SEE,

Respondents.	

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ON THE MERITS

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

STAPLES, ELLIS & ASSOCIATES, P.A.
41 North Jefferson St., Ste. 400
Pensacola, FL 32501
and
BURLINGTON & ROCKENBACH, P.A.
Courthouse Commons/Ste. 430
444 West Railroad Avenue
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 721-0400
(561) 721-0465 (fax)
Attorneys for Respondents
pmb@FLAppellateLaw.com

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

Thus, this Court's prior decisions addressing the scope of the peer review privileges demonstrate that they are limited to protecting information provided to, and the deliberative processes of, peer review committees. The Plaintiff here was not seeking any of that information. The Plaintiff's discovery request sought the blank Hospital membership application, and a review of the relevant statutory provisions demonstrates that the contents of that application were not intended to be confidential.

Section 395.0191, Fla. Stat., addresses staff membership and clinical privileges in licensed hospitals. In addition to noting that each applicant should be considered individually pursuant to criteria relevant to the chapter regulating their particular specialty, that statute provides (§395.0191(4)):

The applicant's eligibility for staff membership or clinical privileges shall be determined by the applicant's background, experience, health, training, and demonstrated competency; the applicant's adherence to applicable professional ethics; the applicant's reputation; and the applicant's ability to work with others and by

such other elements as determined by the governing board, consistent with this part.

That statute also makes it clear that the standards and procedures relevant to granting membership on the medical staff are not confidential, but are a matter of public record (§395.0191(5)):

The governing board of each licensed facility shall set standards and procedures to be applied by the licensed facility and its medical staff in considering and acting upon applications for staff membership or clinical privileges. These standards and procedures shall be available for public inspection. [Emphasis supplied.]

Clearly, a blank application form falls within the category of the standards and procedures relevant to an application for staff membership or clinical privileges and, therefore, should be available for public inspection.

The statutory privilege created in §395.0191(8), Fla. Stat., does not apply to the standards and procedures relevant to the consideration of applications for staff membership or clinical privileges. That statute states (<u>Id.</u>):

The investigations, proceedings, and records of the board, or agent thereof with whom there is a specific written contract for the purposes of this section, as described in this section shall not be subject to discovery or introduction into evidence in any civil action against a provider of professional health services arising out of matters which are the subject of evaluation and review by such board.

As the First District stated, the credentialing committee or review board of the hospital that evaluates applications for staff membership or clinical privileges, does not consider the blank application form, but rather the information on it which is provided by the applicant (18 So.2d at 691). The Plaintiffs herein were not seeking the information which the applicant/physician put on the membership application. In fact, case law clearly establishes that that information is entitled to the privilege consistent with this Court's decision in Cruger, supra. See also, Columbia Hospital Corp. of S. Dade v. Barrera, 738 So.2d 505 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). The Plaintiffs here were only seeking the blank application form.

The Fourth District in <u>Taitel</u>, <u>supra</u>, held that the hospital's blank forms for testing the competency of nurses in regard to sedation and analgesia (which were created by a quality assurance peer review committee) were entitled to the statutory privilege. However, the Fourth District has also ruled that the documents pertaining to "the procedures involved in granting staff privileges to doctors are not privileged, <u>see Liberatore v. NME Hospitals, Inc.</u>, 711 So.2d 1364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). Consistent with that decision and the provisions of §395.0191, Fla. Stat., the First District correctly held that the Plaintiff's request for a blank application form was properly granted by the trial court.

The Hospital's reliance on its Bylaws does not support its argument on this issue. Contrary to the statements in its brief, nothing in the Bylaws demonstrates that the blank application for privileges is considered by the Hospital Credentials Committee, Medical Review Committee, or Board of Trustees (IB, p.16). Indeed, Bylaw 3.7.5. states that an application shall only be reviewed and processed by the committees after all the information is received and the verification process is fully completed (A24, Exh. C, pp.3-11). Nothing in Article 3 of the Bylaws, which addresses the appointment/reappointment provisions, states anything about a blank application form being considered or developed by any of the relevant committees.

The Hospital also suggests that the form is deemed confidential pursuant to Article 12 of its Bylaws which is, frankly, irrelevant to whether it is entitled to statutory protection. Clearly, a hospital cannot create a discovery privilege for itself merely by adopting self-serving bylaws. Nonetheless, a review of the Bylaws demonstrates that, in fact, the blank application form is not confidential. While the medical staff office screens persons requesting staff membership prior to sending an application form, see Bylaw 3.7.1., it is not until that form is actually filled out and submitted that the applicant is bound by the confidentiality provisions of Article 12, see Bylaw 12.1. Moreover, the confidentiality only extends to "any act, communication, report, recommendation or disclosure

concerning any applicant for membership or clinical privileges...." Bylaw 12.2 (A24, Exh. C., p.12-1). Therefore, while the Respondents do not accept that a hospital can grant its own records a privilege against discovery through its bylaws, it is clear that the Bylaws in this case do not establish confidentiality for the blank application form. There is also nothing in the Hospital's Bylaws indicating that the blank form is ever considered by the committees which determine staff membership or the granting of clinical privileges.

For these reasons, the First District did not err in declining to disturb the trial court's order requiring production of the blank application form.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REJECTING THE HOSPITAL'S ARGUMENT THAT SECTION 381.028, FLORIDA STATUTES LIMITED THE SCOPE OF DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE UNDER AMENDMENT 7.

Standard of Review

Respondents agree that this issue is reviewed under the de novo standard.

Argument

The Hospital's argument before this Court does not resemble the argument it presented in the trial court and and the First District. There was never a request by any party for the trial court or the First District to rule on the "process" which the Hospital must use to locate documents responsive to the Plaintiff's Amendment 7 request. The sole argument made by the Hospital in the trial court regarding subsection (7)(b)1 of §381.028, Fla. Stat., was that it could limit its document production to Code 15 reports and annual reports identified in subsections (5) and (7) of §395.1097, Fla. Stat. That attempt to limit the scope of documents available under Amendment 7, based on the Hospital's strained interpretation of §381.028(7)(b)1, Fla. Stat., was rejected by the trial court and the First District. Those rulings were correct and entirely consistent with Florida Hospital Waterman, Inc. v. Buster, 984 So.2d 478 (Fla. 2008).

The Hospital's entire argument in its Amended Motion for Protective Order regarding subsection (7)(b)1, of §381.028, Fla. Stat., was as follows (A21, pp.4-5):²

The Florida Supreme Court's opinion in Florida Hospital Waterman, Inc. v. Buster, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008) left intact §381.028(7)(b)1., which provides that "[u]sing the process provided in s. 395.0197, the health care facility shall be responsible for identifying records of an adverse medical incident, as defined in s. 25, Art. X of the State Constitution." The plain language of this sub-section means that the "records of an adverse medical incident" under Amendment 7 are those records identified in § 395.0197, other than attorney work-product protected records under s. 395.0197(4) or common law. The records identified in §395.0197 which fall under the category of "records of adverse medical incidents" are therefore limited to incidents in Code 15 reports identified in §395.0197(7) and the annual report to AHCA identified in §395.0197(5).

To the extent that Plaintiff's discovery request seeks the production of records other than incidents in Code 15 reports and the annual reports, the requests are overly broad.

As such, it is clear that the Hospital never requested a ruling on the "process" referred to in §381.028(7)(b)1, Fla. Stat., but rather argued for a specific result; that the statute limited the records available under Amendment 7 to Code 15

² The identical language was later repeated in the Memorandum portion of the Hospital's Amended Motion for Protective Order (A21, p.23).

reports and annual reports as defined in §395.1097, Fla. Stat. While the trial court did not directly address that issue, it did rule that the Hospital was required to produce "documents relating to 'adverse medical incidents' as defined in Article X, §25(3)(c), Florida Constitution." As discussed below, that was a correct ruling and a proper rejection of the Hospital's attempt to limit the Plaintiffs' constitutional rights based on §381.028, Fla. Stat.

The Hospital acknowledges that this Court declared six subsections of §381.028, Fla. Stat., to be unconstitutional in <u>Buster</u>, because they were improper attempts to limit the right of access granted under Amendment 7. While this Court did not strike subsection (7)(b)1, that does not mean that this Court is obligated to accept the Hospital's <u>interpretation</u> of that subsection, nor apply it to limit Plaintiff's constitutional rights. Of course, the Hospital's Initial Brief does not mention that it is seeking to limit the scope of documents available under Amendment 7; it only discusses the "process" which §381.028(7)(b)1, Fla. Stat., addresses. This transformation of its argument allows it to contend that subsection (7)(b) only implements Amendment 7 when, in fact, the Hospital is seeking to restrict Amendment 7 document production in all situations to Code 15 reports and annual reports under §395.0197, Fla. Stat.

The Hospital's actual argument was properly rejected by the trial court and the First District, since it would impermissibly limit Amendment 7 in the same manner as two of the subsections which were stricken in Buster. §381.028(3)(j), Fla. Stat., defined the records available under Amendment 7 as only final reports of any adverse medical incident. In Buster, this Court struck that provision from the statute on the basis that it was an impermissible limitation on the scope of records available under Amendment 7 (984 So.2d at 492-93). Additionally, subsection (7)(a) of §381.028, Fla. Stat., limited the patient to obtaining final reports relating to the same or substantially similar condition, treatment, or diagnosis of the patient requesting access to the documents. Buster, this Court also struck that provision on the basis that it was an impermissible attempt to limit the scope of documents available under Amendment 7. Id.

The Hospital's argument here must be rejected based on that same rationale. While the Hospital is arguing that the statute is entitled to determine the "process" that a hospital must engage in to locate documents responsive to Amendment 7 requests, its argument in the trial court and the district court related to the "result," i.e., a limitation on the documents available to Code 15 reports and annual reports as provided in §395.0197, Fla. Stat. Thus, by its interpretation of subsection 7(b)1,

the Hospital is attempting to achieve the same result that this Court determined the legislature could <u>not</u> achieve by two of the subsections of §381.028, Fla. Stat., which limited the scope of documents available under Amendment 7.

The argument that subsection 7(b)1 of §381.028, Fla. Stat., can be interpreted and applied as limiting the scope of documents under Amendment 7 was first rejected by the Fourth District in Columbia Hospital Corporation of So. Broward v. Fain, 16 So.3d 236 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009). The Fourth District stated (16 So.3d at 241):

Columbia's argument that pursuant to this statute it must provide only certain reports ("Code 15" reports under section 395.0197) is expressly contrary to the amendment. The amendment provides that it is "not limited to" incidents that already must be reported under law. Art. X, § 25(c)(3), Fla. Const. (emphasis supplied). As the Florida Supreme Court held in Buster, the legislature may not limit the scope of discoverability of adverse incident reports in a manner inconsistent with the amendment. Columbia's argument calls for an unconstitutional application of the statute.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, the First District expressly agreed with the <u>Fain</u> decision stating (18 So.3d at 683-84):

The trial court's order used Amendment 7 as the basis for ordering production of documents. If section 381.028(7)(b)1 requires less of hospitals, as Petitioner suggests, then it conflicts with Amendment 7. See id. Like the Fain court, we observe that Petitioner's

argument calls for an unconstitutional application of the statute.

The First District's decision is entirely consistent with <u>Buster</u>, and should not be disturbed by this Court. It is a fundamental constitutional principle that the legislature cannot, by statute, limit or impede rights created by the Constitution, <u>Gray v. Bryant</u>, 125 So.2d 846, 851 (Fla. 1960). The legislature is entitled to implement constitutional provisions and to supplement them, but it cannot nullify the will of the people by restricting the rights available under the Constitution. <u>Id.</u>
That was the principle applied in <u>Buster</u> to strike down six provisions in §381.028, Fla. Stat., and it is the same principle which compelled the Fourth District in <u>Fain</u> and the First District here to reject the Hospital's argument.

Amendment 7 addresses the scope of documents available through its definition of the term "adverse medical incident" as follows (Art. X, §25(c)(3)):

The phrase "adverse medical incident" means medical negligence, intentional misconduct, and any other act, neglect, or default of a health care facility or health care provider that caused or could have caused injury to or death of a patient, including, but not limited to, those incidents that are required by state or federal law to be reported to any governmental agency or body, and incidents that are reported to or reviewed by any health care facility peer review, risk management, quality assurance, credentials, or similar committee, or any representative of any such committees.

As noted by the Fourth District in <u>Fain</u> and the First District in the case <u>sub judice</u>, that provision specifically states that the records of adverse medical incidents are not limited to those that are required to be reported to any governmental agency or body. Nonetheless, acceptance of the Hospital's argument would limit Amendment 7 documents to those required to be reported to a governmental agency. Additionally, the definition in Article X, §25(c)(3), does not limit the scope of documents to risk management documents as the Hospital's argument attempts to do, but explicitly includes peer review, quality assurance, credential committees, as well as any "similar committee."

There is no way to reconcile the Hospital's argument limiting the documents available under Amendment 7 to Code 15 reports and annual reports, as defined in §395.0197, Fla. Stat., with the language or intent of Article X, §25. Therefore, consistent with this Court's decision in <u>Buster</u>, the First District and the trial court properly rejected the Hospital's argument that §381.028(7)(b)1, Fla. Stat., operates to limit the scope of documents available under Amendment 7.

POINT III

AMENDMENT 7 DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SUPREMACY CLAUSE OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Standard of Review

Respondents agree that this issue is reviewed under the <u>de novo</u> standard.

Argument

The Hospital contends that Amendment 7 conflicts with the Health Care Quality and Improvement Act ("HCQIA"), 42 U.S.C. §11101, et. seq., and, therefore, this Court should hold that it is pre-empted by that Act pursuant to the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution. However, there is no conflict between Amendment 7 and the HCQIA, nor is the state constitutional provision an obstacle to the federal act so as to justify pre-emption.

The United States Supreme Court recently discussed the "two cornerstones of our pre-emption jurisprudence," Wyeth v. Levine, 129 S.Ct. 1187, 1194-95 (March 4, 2009), as follows:

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